RECEIVED

Mar 26 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Dorchester County
Court of Common Pleas

Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-18-02145
Appellate Case No. 2025-001032

Steve Rickenbaker,

Respondent,

v.

Oakbrook Healthcare, LLC
d/b/a Oakbrook Health and Rehabilitation Center,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)
D. Jay Davis Jr. (SC Bar No. 12084)
James D. Gandy, III (SC Bar No. 11925)
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
P.O. Box 993 (29402)
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 720-5488

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s¹ motion to compel Mr. Rickenbaker’s² claims to arbitration?³**
- A. Did the circuit court err in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument? More specifically, should the circuit court have found that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and that, because Mr. Rickenbaker effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, he is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith?**
- (1) Did the circuit court misapprehend the nature of the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument?**
- (2) Is the circuit court’s merger analysis erroneous?**
- (a) Should *Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC*⁴ control the disposition of this case?**
- (3) Is the circuit court’s equitable estoppel analysis erroneous?**
- (a) Does direct benefits estoppel apply?**
- (b) Did the circuit court violate the FAA’s⁵ “equal footing” rule by charging the Facility with a heightened duty to determine the existence Mrs. Rickenbaker’s authority that does not exist under South Carolina’s general contract law and, at the same time, disregarding applicable state law in respect of the legal significance of Mrs. Rickenbaker’s act of signing the Arbitration Agreement and her duty of good faith and fair dealing?**
- B. At a minimum, should the circuit court have granted the Facility’s alternative request for permission to conduct limited discovery to address**

¹ The “Facility” refers to Defendant/Appellant, Oakbrook Healthcare, LLC d/b/a Oakbrook Health and Rehabilitation Center. It is a skilled nursing facility.

² “Mr. Rickenbaker” refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, Steve Rickenbaker.

³ To be clear, out of an abundance of caution, to the extent necessary and/or applicable, this issue, and the corresponding argument, covers circuit court error in terms of both the denial of the Facility’s principal motion and the denial of the Facility’s motion to alter, amend, and/or reconsider the denial of its principal motion.

⁴ 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144 (Ct. App. 2023).

⁵ The “FAA” refers to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq.

gaps in the evidentiary record bearing on the Arbitration Agreement's enforceability under principles relating to the law of agency?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With the help of his wife, Faye Rickenbaker (“Mrs. Rickenbaker”), Mr. Rickenbaker was admitted as a resident of the Facility in June 2018. (R. p. 37 ¶ 8; R. pp. 103-114; R. p. 66.) Mrs. Rickenbaker handled the paperwork in conjunction with Mr. Rickenbaker’s admission, and in so doing, she signed an Admission Agreement⁶ and an Arbitration Agreement⁷ on Mr. Rickenbaker’s behalf.

Mr. Rickenbaker commenced this action against the Facility in the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas on August 9, 2021, based on allegedly deficient care/treatment he received during his residency at the Facility. (R. pp. 35-39.)⁸ The Facility timely answered Mr. Rickenbaker’s complaint on September 30, 2021, denying the alleged liability, raising a number of affirmative defenses, and expressly reserving its right to compel arbitration. (R. pp. 40-45.)

⁶ (R. pp. 103-114.)

⁷ (R. p. 66.) Without question, the FAA applies to the Arbitration Agreement. The FAA applies “to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction.” *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001); *see also Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 268 (1995) (holding that the reach of the FAA extends to the broadest permissible exercise of Congress’s power under the Commerce Clause); *id.* at 273–77 (1995) (explaining that unless the parties specifically contract otherwise, the FAA applies whenever an arbitration agreement involves interstate commerce). Our Supreme Court has expressly held that skilled nursing facility admission agreements implicate interstate commerce and, thus, the FAA. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381–82, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732–33 (2014).

⁸ The case was originally identified as Case No. 2021-CP-18-01410, but as explained below, the case was struck from the docket and restored under Rule 40(j), SCRCPP, whereupon it became identified by its current circuit court case number, 2023-CP-18-02145. Additionally, the case was originally brought against two other defendants besides the Facility, Floyd Brace Company, Inc., and Trident Medical Center, LLC d/b/a Trident Medical Center, but these defendants were dismissed during time the case was struck from the docket pursuant to Rule 40(j). (R. pp. 260-264.)

On November 15, 2021, the Facility moved to compel Mr. Rickenbaker's claims against it to arbitration based on the Arbitration Agreement that Mrs. Rickenbaker signed on behalf of Mr. Rickenbaker in conjunction with his admission (the "Motion to Compel Arbitration"). (R. pp. 64-114, 120-122.)⁹

Following a hearing on April 13, 2022, the circuit court, the Honorable R. Markley Dennis Jr., presiding, denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration by order filed May 11, 2022. (R. pp. 1-9.) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, on May 20, 2022, the Facility timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision. (R. pp. 240-259.) Prior to ruling on the Facility's Rule 59(e) motion, however, Judge Dennis retired from the bench and went into the private practice of law. Accordingly, since Judge Dennis was unable to rule on the Facility's Rule 59(e) motion, the Motion to Compel Arbitration would have to be reheard by another circuit court judge.

The case was struck from the docket pursuant to Rule 40(j) on February 7, 2023,¹⁰ and thereafter restored on December 18, 2023. (R. pp. 14-16.) The Facility re-filed the Motion to Compel Arbitration on April 18, 2024. (R. pp. 265-266, 66.) And after being dismissed without prejudice by order filed November 26, 2024,¹¹ the Facility again refiled the Motion to Compel Arbitration on December 11, 2024. (R. pp. 267-268, 66; R. pp. 343-371, 103-114, 66, 120-122.)

⁹ Without question, Mr. Rickenbaker's claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 66 ("[A]ny controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility's Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Rickenbaker's] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Mr. Rickenbaker], including but not limited to . . .").) This plain language clearly embraces the subject matter of Mr. Rickenbaker's claims against the Facility, but even if there were "any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration . . ." *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) ("[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered.").

¹⁰ (R. pp. 10-13.)

¹¹ (R. pp. 20-22.)

Following a hearing on January 21, 2025, the circuit court, the Honorable Maité Murphy presiding,¹² denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration by order filed April 3, 2025. (R. pp. 23-31.) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), on April 14, 2025, the Facility timely moved Judge Murphy to alter, amend, and/or reconsider her decision (the “Motion to Reconsider”). (R. pp. 372-399.) By email dated May 23, 2025, Judge Murphy’s law clerk advised the parties that Judge Murphy had decided to deny the Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 400-402.)

By notice served and filed May 23, 2025, this appeal timely follows. (R. pp. 403-409.)¹³

¹² (R. pp. 46-63.)

¹³ The appeal was taken after the circuit court’s email notification of the denial of the Motion to Reconsider but before the filing of the court’s written order denying the Motion to Reconsider on May 24, 2025. (R. pp. 32-34.) This unusual procedure was prompted by this case’s status on the jury trial roster for the May 26, 2025, term of court and the Chief Administrative Judge’s denial, by order filed May 23, 2025, of the parties’ consent motion for a continuance due to the pendency of the Motion for Reconsideration. Given that the case was not ready for trial (because discovery had not been conducted due to the pendency of the Motion to Compel Arbitration) and that, as a practical matter, regardless of how the circuit court ruled on the Motion to Reconsider the case would not then be proceeding to trial (because if the court denied the motion the Facility intended to exercise its right to appeal and if the court granted the motion the case would be stayed in favor of arbitration), it was the mutual desire of all parties for the case to be removed from the jury trial roster. Accordingly, the Facility proceeded with service of its notice of appeal on May 23, 2025. (R. pp. 403-409.) The Facility’s undersigned counsel had intended to amend the notice of appeal after the filing of the circuit court’s written order ruling on the Motion to Reconsider but, through inadvertence, did not do so; however, this is ultimately immaterial, because the appeal was timely taken, *see* Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR (staying the time for appeal upon the making of a timely motion pursuant to Rule 59(e)), and even assuming, *arguendo*, the Facility’s appeal of the circuit court’s ruling on the Motion to Reconsider via appeal of the email notice of the court’s decision is insufficient, a Rule 59(e) motion was not necessary to preserve the Facility’s issues/arguments for appeal. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 77, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998) (“Post-trial motions are not necessary to preserve issues that have been ruled upon at trial; they are used to preserve those that have been raised to the trial court but not yet ruled upon by it.”); *see also Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (“[O]ur rules contemplate two basic situations in which a party should consider filing a Rule 59(e) motion. A party *may* wish to file such a motion when she believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the party wishes for the court to reconsider or rule on it. A party *must* file such a motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review.”) (emphasis in original).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). "Under de novo review, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings." *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court's discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem'l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration.

A. The circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument. More specifically, the circuit court should have found that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and that, because Mr. Rickenbaker effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, he is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.

(1) The circuit court misapprehended the nature of the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument, as evidenced by the following incorrect and/or inapplicable statements included in its order denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration:

(a) "The basis of [the Facility's] Motion is that a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement exists between the parties."¹⁴

¹⁴ (R. p. 24.)

- (b) **“Since Ms. Rickenbaker lacked legal authority, the Arbitration Agreement is void and unenforceable.”¹⁵**
- (c) **“[T]he Court must determine (1) if the Arbitration Agreement merged with and was a part of the Admission Agreement such that Rickenbaker would be equitably estopped from denying the Arbitration Agreement’s validity, and (2) if Ms. Rickenbaker had actual or apparent authority to enter the Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Rickenbaker.”¹⁶**

The Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is a standalone argument. It does not depend on any showing of authority (actual or apparent or otherwise) on the part of Mrs. Rickenbaker or otherwise on the existence of any valid and enforceable agreement between the parties. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including . . . estoppel.”); *see also Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel); *id.* (explaining that “Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument,” which “[wa]s premised on [Appellants’] contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged,” as follows: “Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] . . . , she is nevertheless *equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability.*”) (emphasis added).

Conceptually, the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is *not* an argument *for the enforceability* of the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement *but rather* an argument *for Mr. Rickenbaker to be estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement

¹⁵ (R. p. 26.)

merged, and Mr. Rickenbaker having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, he is estopped to deny the enforceability not only of the Admission Agreement but also the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. And by its very nature, i.e., because the Facility’s argument in favor of direct benefits estoppel is based on the direct benefits Mr. Rickenbaker received under the Admission Agreement (with which the Arbitration merged), this argument applies with equal force to estop Mr. Rickenbaker from denying the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.

Accordingly, as to the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, any analysis by the circuit court regarding the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement’s supposed lack of enforceability—e.g., that Mrs. Rickenbaker lacked authority to sign the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Mr. Rickenbaker under the law of agency¹⁷ and/or under the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act (the “AHCCA”), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-66-10 to -80,¹⁸ and/or because Mrs. Rickenbaker lacked power of attorney or guardianship over Mr. Rickenbaker¹⁹—is beside the point and unavailing to refute the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable but whether Mr. Rickenbaker is estopped to deny its enforceability.

(2) The circuit court’s merger analysis is erroneous.

In *Coleman*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger on the particular *facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

¹⁶ (R. p. 24-25 (emphasis added).)

¹⁷ (See R. pp. 28-29 (regarding principles of agency).)

¹⁸ (See R. pp. 24-26, 28-29 (regarding the AHCCA).)

¹⁹ (See R. pp. 24, 26 (regarding power of attorney and guardianship).)

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [Adult Health Care Consent] Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement's] enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, *the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. at 354–355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Here, the circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility's merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed in) *Coleman* and its progeny *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018), and, for that matter, even though the circuit court did not cite it, *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144, as explained separately below, out of an abundance of caution.

The circuit court wrongfully concluded that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contracts that do not merge. (R. pp. 26-28.) The merger

question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”²⁰ as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,²¹ there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the instruments were intended to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

It must be remembered that, where, as here, the instruments in question were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, merger is *presumed*. For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only by actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be

²⁰ *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

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