RECEIVED

Mar 24 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001032

Steve Rickenbaker, Respondent,

v.

Oakbrook Healthcare, LLC
d/b/a Oakbrook Health and Rehabilitation Center, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PARKER LAW GROUP, LLP
Lee D. Cope
John E. Parker, Jr.
P.O. Box 487
Hampton, SC 29924
Ph:(803) 903-1781
lcope@parkerlawgroupsc.com
jayparker@parkerlawgroupsc.com

AND

Neil E. Alger
P.O. Box 2530
Ridgeland, SC 29936
Ph:(843) 547-8011
nalger@parkerlawgroupsc.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court’s April 3, 2025 and May 24, 2025 Orders should be affirmed by the Court because they do not contain any clear legal errors, and the factual conclusions of the Circuit Court are reasonably supported by the evidence in the record. Under this Court’s prior rulings, the exact same arbitration agreement and admission agreement at issue have been found by this Court not to merge, and that a nonsignatory would not be precluded from denying the validity of the arbitration agreement. And since the Facility has not contested the Circuit Court’s finding that

the signatory did not have authority to enter the arbitration agreement, either by way of the Adult Health Care Consent Act, a valid power of attorney, or common law agency principles, that finding is now the law of the case, and the Facility can only argue that the agreements merge such that Rickenbaker should have been estopped from opposing arbitration. *See Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”). For these and the following reasons, the Circuit Court’s Orders denying the Facility’s motions should be affirmed.

I. Statement of Facts.

On May 11, 2018, Steve Rickenbaker was admitted to Trident Medical Center after falling and fracturing his cervical spine and right knee. (R. p. 36). During his stay at Trident, his condition worsened and he developed hospital-associated delirium and an occipital scalp pressure ulcer. (R. p. 37). On June 18, 2018, Rickenbaker was admitted to the Facility after being discharged from Trident, where his occipital scalp pressure ulcer worsened and he sustained a deep tissue wound to his sacrum. (*Id.*). Eventually, the wound developed into a stage IV wound with bone exposure and required debridement and a wound vac. (*Id.*). Rickenbaker commenced this action on August 9, 2021, alleging negligence and gross negligence in his care and treatment while a resident at the Facility. (R. pp. 35-39).

Upon admission, the Facility’s admission and arbitration agreements were signed by Ms. Faye Rickenbaker, Mr. Rickenbaker’s wife. (R. pp. 66, 103-14). The Facility has not appealed and did not ask for reconsideration of the Circuit Court’s

finding that there was no evidence of any actual or apparent agency relationship between Mr. Rickenbaker and Ms. Rickenbaker, it has not appealed and did not ask for reconsideration of the Circuit Court’s finding that the Adult Health Care Consent Act did not grant authority to Ms. Rickenbaker to enter an arbitration agreement on behalf of Mr. Rickenbaker, and it has not appealed or asked for reconsideration of the Circuit Court’s finding that Ms. Rickenbaker had no authority to execute the arbitration agreement, so these finding are the law of the case.⁵

Ms. Rickenbaker signed the Facility’s arbitration agreement and admission agreement on August 6, 2010. (R. pp. 66, 103-14). The admission agreement contains provisions regarding the Facility’s obligations, the resident’s obligations, and a financial agreement, as well as provisions regarding the termination of the admission agreement, governing law, and an entirety of agreement provision. (*Id.*). The admission agreement has its own signature page, is separately entitled “Admission Agreement – South Carolina”, and is separately paginated as pages one through 12. (*Id.*).

The arbitration agreement sets forth that all claims arising out of or relating to the Facility’s admission agreement are to be resolved by arbitration and provides the governing law for the arbitration agreement. The arbitration agreement has its own separate signature page, is entitled “Facility – Resident/Representative Arbitration Agreement”, and is paginated as “Page 1 of 1”. (*Id.*). The Facility has

⁵ The authority conveyed by a principal to an agent to make health care decisions or handle finances does not encompass executing an agreement to arbitrate. *Hodge v. UniHealth Post Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 572, 813 S.E.2d 292, 307 (Ct. App. 2018).

acknowledged that the arbitration agreement is optional, and it contains no provision for medical, nursing, or health care services to be provided to residents, nor does it require any financial commitment to pay for such services. Since it is undisputed that Ms. Rickenbaker did not have authority to enter the arbitration agreement, the Court's analysis is confined to whether Mr. Rickenbaker should have been precluded from denying the validity of the arbitration agreement under a merger/estoppel theory.

II. The arbitration agreement and admission agreement did not merge because they are governed by separate bodies of law, the contract terms recognize them as separate documents, they have separate procedures for termination, they are separately paginated and have their own signature pages, and the arbitration agreement was optional and not a precondition to admission.

Because arbitration exists solely by agreement of the parties, a presumption against arbitration arises where the party resisting arbitration is a nonsignatory to the written agreement to arbitrate. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 337, 827 S.E.2d at 173. State law provides when an arbitration agreement may be enforced against a nonsignatory, and South Carolina permits a nonsignatory to be bound by an arbitration agreement under several theories: incorporation by reference, assumption, agency, veil piercing/alter ego, and estoppel. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 647, 885 S.E.2d at 148. Only two of these theories were at play before the Circuit Court, and the Facility has declined to appeal any issues concerning agency. Therefore, the Facility may only prevail if it can show there is no evidence reasonably supporting the Circuit Court's finding that the Estate was not estopped from denying the validity of the arbitration agreement.

A nonsignatory may be estopped from denying the validity of an arbitration agreement when it receives a direct benefit from a contract containing an arbitration clause. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 647, 885 S.E.2d at 148. It is undisputed in this case that the Facility’s arbitration agreement was not a clause in its admission agreement, and Mr. Rickenbaker has not received any direct benefit from the arbitration agreement itself. The Facility thus argues that under a theory of merger, the arbitration agreement and the admission agreement became a unified contract once they were executed, and since Rickenbaker “benefited” from the terms of the admission agreement, he is precluded from denying the validity of the arbitration agreement. However, the language and formatting of the agreements serve as evidence that the two agreements were intended to be separate documents, and at minimum, create an ambiguity as to merger that must be construed against the Facility.

In South Carolina, “[t]he general rule is that, *in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention*, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc., 407 S.C. 346, 355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (emphasis added). Here, the terms of the agreements indicate an intent that the doctrine of merger would in some instances not apply to the agreements, and at minimum create an ambiguity as to merger. *See id.* at 355-56, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (stating that ambiguity as to merger must be construed against the drafter). The Facility makes an argument that there is a presumption of merger when documents are executed at the same time and for the same purpose, and that any ambiguity in

the documents demonstrative of the drafter's intent therefore cannot be construed against the drafter.⁶ This makes little sense and misrepresents the language of *Coleman*, as the rule makes clear that there is an exception to any presumption of merger when *anything* exists which would indicate a contrary intention. Ambiguity in the documents as to whether they merge is clearly *something* which could indicate contrary intent and cautions against a finding of merger.

In determining whether a health care facility's admission and arbitration agreements merge, this Court has looked to the following factors: (1) whether the two agreements are governed by separate bodies of law, (2) whether the language of the agreements recognizes the two agreements as separate, (3) whether the agreements contain different terms regarding revocation and termination, (4) whether the agreements are separately paginated and have their own signature pages, and (5) whether both agreements are required for the execution of the other, or whether one agreement is optional. *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 562-63, 813 S.E.2d at 302. This Court has previously analyzed the exact admission and arbitration agreements at issue here in *Solesbee* and found the agreements do not merge.

In *Solesbee*, the Court found that the admission agreement is governed by South Carolina law, while the arbitration agreement is governed by federal law. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 648, 885 S.E.2d at 149. To be precise, the admission agreement is governed by "applicable Federal regulations" and South Carolina law. (R. p. 112). The arbitration agreement, on the other hand, purports to be governed by the FAA's

⁶ To be clear, South Carolina law has never stated that there is any sort of evidentiary presumption of merger.

statutes and specifically not by South Carolina law.⁷ (R. p. 66). Therefore, the two agreements are not governed by identical spheres of law: one is subject to state law and the federal code of regulations, while the other claims to be only subject to the statutes contained within the FAA.

Second, the Court has previously found that the language of the agreements recognizes that they are separate: “The Arbitration Agreement recognized the two documents were separate, stating the Arbitration Agreement ‘shall survive any termination or breach of this Agreement or the Admission Agreement.’” *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 648-49, 885 S.E.2d at 149. This language mirrors that addressed in *Coleman* and *Thompson*, in which the Supreme Court and this Court found such language to be proof that an admission agreement was separate and did not merge with an arbitration agreement:

The court then explained the evidence of the parties’ intent to keep the two agreements separate by highlighting the admission agreement’s recognition of the arbitration agreement as a separate document, i.e., “This Agreement, including all Exhibits hereto, and the Arbitration Agreement”

Thompson v. Pruitt Corp., 416 S.C. 43, 52, 784 S.E.2d 679, 685 (Ct. App. 2016).

The Facility argues that the admission agreement’s “Entire Agreement” clause contains language indicating that the agreements merged, specifically the statement that “[t]he undersigned further acknowledges that he/she has received and read the

⁷ The Facility argues that both agreements are broadly governed by South Carolina and federal law; however, the arbitration agreement specifically states it will only be enforced under the FAA. To the extent that the arbitration agreement provides that the arbitration *proceedings* will be governed by the South Carolina Alternate Dispute Resolution/Mediation Rules, these Rules are not substantive, only govern any ADR proceedings, and are irrelevant to the enforcement of the arbitration agreement and the Court’s determination of merger.

Admission Handbook and other Admissions materials and understand that these documents are made a part of this Agreement by reference *herein*.” (R. p. 114) (emphasis added). Problematically, there is no reference to the arbitration agreement anywhere within the entire admission agreement. Regardless, even if there was some reference to the arbitration agreement within the admission agreement, when viewed alongside the other details of the agreements, there remains an ambiguity as to merger that at best must be construed against the Facility.

The Facility wholly relies on dicta from prior decisions of this Court discussing that arbitration agreements can be part of admissions documentation to support that its arbitration agreement was an “Admissions material” that was incorporated into its admission agreement, but those decisions have no evidentiary value to this Appeal. Additionally, the “Entire Agreement” provision purports to incorporate the admissions materials by reference within the admission agreement itself, but nowhere within the admission agreement, including the “Entire Agreement” provision, does it ever refer to the arbitration agreement. In short, there is no admissible evidence that the arbitration agreement and admission agreement were executed at the same time, even if they were executed on the same date. The “Entire Agreement” provision creates at best an ambiguity as to merger when taken in context of the totality of the circumstances.

Third, the Court has found that the arbitration agreement contains no language indicating that it may be revoked or terminated, but the admission agreement provides that a resident may terminate the admission agreement at any

time. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 649, 885 S.E.2d at 149. Fourth, the Court has found that the agreements at issue are separately paginated and have their own signature pages. *Id.* Since the arbitration and admission contracts have different pagination with different signature pages, and the arbitration contract is entitled “Arbitration Agreement” at the top of its first page, these factors further indicate the drafter's intent for the arbitration agreement to stand by itself as an independent contract, at least when it suits the Facility for it to do so. *See Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 53 n.1, 784 S.E.2d at 685 n.1 (noting that a separately labeled arbitration agreement indicates the drafter's intent for the agreement to stand by itself as an independent contract). Lastly, the Court has found that the arbitration agreement is optional and voluntary, while the admission agreement is required for admission. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 649, 885 S.E.2d at 149. The Facility does not dispute in this case that the arbitration agreement is voluntary and optional.

In this case, the text of the agreements constitutes “actual evidence” and at minimum creates ambiguity as to whether the agreements merged. The Facility misconstrues that there is a legal presumption of merger, arguing that the above-discussed factors are not sufficient to overcome this presumption. However, the language of *Coleman* never states that there is a presumption of merger in the context of health care facility arbitration agreements, or that one interpretation as to merger or the other is favored in any way, and in fact the Court's precedents state that *there is a presumption against arbitration, and therefore merger, when an arbitration*

agreement is attempted to be enforced against a nonsignatory. Wilson, 426 S.C. at 337, 827 S.E.2d at 173.

Coleman dictates that the Court can assume merger only if the agreements were made at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, so long as there is no language or other indication within the agreements of a contrary intent. The fact that there is ample evidence that the agreements were drafted in such a manner that they could, if necessary, be construed as separate contracts only strengthens the Circuit Court's reasoning and cautions against a finding of merger. The language, pagination, and formatting of the admission agreement and arbitration agreement evince an intent for the agreements to be considered separately, presumably when such a position would work to the advantage of the Facility.

The Facility argues that this evidence is not "actual evidence", and that the Circuit Court's and this Court's former decisions were based on speculation. This begs the question of what else was the Circuit Court supposed to rely on to determine if there was an intent contrary to merger that could be gleaned from the agreements. Additionally, if the above-discussed evidence is not indicative of a contrary intent, and the Facility intended the documents to merge, then why hasn't it made the arbitration agreement a provision of the admission agreement, or merged the two documents with an explicit merger provision in the arbitration agreement? Why make separate documents to begin with? The answer to these questions is that for certain purposes not relevant to this Appeal, the Facility wants the agreements to be

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